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In the years following the Battle of Britain, planes, aircrews, and supplies poured into England across the Atlantic, and this process accelerated rapidly after America formally entered the war.  Discussions about basing tactical forces in the UK were initiated even before the US became a combatant, and once US forces were committed, the plans became a reality. The RAF had suffered horrific losses in missions attempted during the day, which is why their Lancaster bombers were bombing continental targets only at night.  Although the British were very skeptical of the American plans to undertake daylight bombing missions, they were intrigued by the tactical possibilities of round-the-clock bombing. As a result they were extremely accommodating to the arriving airplanes and aircrews, even if they did consider them slightly daft if not suicidally inclined. 

The operational command of the newly created 8th Air Force arrived in England in February 1942.  They envisioned a network of 60 combat groups and 3500 planes, more planes than the RAF had in service. The first order of business would have to be finding places to put all of the men and planes, and the materials and support networks they would require.  The bulk of the airfields would, at least initially, be located NE of London in East Anglia, an eastern region that included Norfolk, Suffolk, and Cambridgeshire.  This was situated opposite the northern entry to the English Channel opposite the Netherlands.  

The quartermasters and support crews arrived first to pave the way for the aircraft and their crews.  These pioneers moved by ship, followed by administrative and headquarters command staff.  Each bomber or fighter group would consist of headquarters and support staff and four squadrons of planes with their aircrews.  Initially each squadron consisted of 8-10 planes, but over time that number increased as planes and aircrews continued to arrive after the airbase network had been established.  To save time and reduce delays for construction, 8th Air Force units were often accommodated by repurposing what had originally been small regional airfields or satellite bases of the Royal Air Force.  The 8th Air force initially brought in B-17s and B-24s as bombers and associated fighters,  initially the P-38 but over time the more advanced P-47 and P-51.  

When the first bomber group of the 8th Air Force reached England in mid-June 1942, the aircrews arrived in B-17Es, which had “only” 9 machine guns and relatively poor defenses against fighters approaching head-on. That bomber group, the 97th BG, based in Polebrook, was given minimal time for field training before being assigned to operational status.  Their first bombing mission, on 17 August 1942, involved just 12 aircraft, two of which returned in need of repairs.  As the number of American bombers arriving in the UK increased, new bases, bomber groups, and squadrons were created.  

The number of planes sortied by the 8th Air Force gradually increased; Mission 10 on 6 September 1942 involved 65 B-17s; Mission 14 on 9 October 1942 involved 84 B-17s and 24 B-24s. At this stage losses to enemy fighters and ground fire were acutely distressing.  Of the 84 B-17s that left England for Mission 14, 46 suffered serious damage and 3 planes were lost, and only 59 managed to drop their bombs on the target.  At this point many of the British HQ staff probably had “I told you so” expressions on their faces.   

More-heavily armored and defended B-17Fs began arriving in the European Theatre of Operations (ETO) in late 1942, and with the arrival of the new planes came new bomber groups and new airbases.  Mission 84, conducted on the first anniversary of combat operations by the 8th Air Force, sent 376 B-17Es and B-17Fs into Germany to bomb airfields and factories that built aircraft parts for the Luftwaffe.  Defenses in Germany were stouter than those in occupied France; on that mission 60 aircraft were lost.  Two of the lost planes were from the newly established 385th Bomber Group, which had sent 21 planes to bomb an aircraft factory in Regensburg.  

Throughout that first year of 8th Air Force combat operations, fighter cover was extremely limited; only 11 of 84 missions flown had fighter escorts.  Cover was provided initially by British Spitfire Mk Vs and the rather ungainly YB-40s.  A YB-40 was a B-17F bristling with guns and ammunition but without a bomb load.  In the long run this proved impractical; whatever security they provided on the way to the target was lost once the bombs had been dropped because the heavily armored gunships could not keep pace with the empty bombers. However, their presence did make an impression on the Luftwaffe.  When B-17s in standard formations downed German fighters, the Luftwaffe often blamed it on imaginary YB-40s.  By the end of the first year, both the Spitfires and the YB-40s had been replaced by long range P-38s and P-47s.  By this time the Luftwaffe had become much less of a threat to bombers in the skies over France and even over Germany._  

The 385th Bomber Group

The 385th Bomber Group had been activated in February 1943.  Its first commander would be Major Elliott Vandevanter.  Although one of the youngest bomber group leaders in the 8th Air Force,  he was a decorated combat veteran who had already been awarded the Distinguished Flying Cross, Silver Star, and Oak Leaf clusters for missions flown against the Japanese in the Pacific Theatre. The command nucleus of the 385th, consisting of 27 officers and 205 enlisted men of the administrative and support staff, arrived at the airbase in Spokane, WA, and the first four B-17s with their air crews landed shortly thereafter.  The four planes were assigned to 4 new combat squadrons, the 548th-551st. By June 1943 these squadrons had grown to include 26 combat crews, and the 385th Bomber Group was ready to ship overseas. 

Major Vandevanter and an advance guard had already headed to England to oversee the logistical preparations.   Of the options available he selected the Great Ashfield airfield as his base of operations.  This small complex was located in the Suffolk countryside roughly 28 miles east of Cambridge and 60 miles northeast of London.  The closest town of consequence was Bury St. Edmunds, less than ten miles due west. 

The Great Ashfield airfield and its outbuildings had been built by the RAF and designated as Station 155.  It had a small headquarters complex, barracks buildings, mess halls, and so forth that would host the 385th personnel while they enlarged, enhanced, and expanded the facility to contain what would grow to be more than 600 men and their gear, the necessary food and medical supplies, dozens of heavy bombers, and ton after ton of munitions, spare parts, fuel, and, of course, the voluminous associated paperwork.  

Great Ashfield Airbase occupied an area of roughly 5 square miles.  There were three runways, each 150’  wide, that formed an intersecting triangle with northern, southern, and western corners.  The longest runway, extending almost a mile,  ran NE-SW.  It was designated runway 24 (short for 240°, the compass heading on approach). The other two, shorter runways intersected the primary runway at nearly 45° angles.  Runway 27 ran roughly W-E whereas 31 ran NW-SE; the eastern ends of the two secondary runways converged.  All runways were connected to the perimeter taxiway that encircled the airfield. 

Each bomber had a designated parking area that accessed the perimeter taxiway.  Most airplanes were parked along either side between the eastern ends of the secondaries and the western end of the primary runway; the control tower was situated on the same segment of the taxiway opposite the intersection between the E-W secondary runway and Runway 24.   A few aircraft parking areas were clustered along other segments of the taxiway near the fuel stores (along the western perimeter) and near the bomb storage bunkers (along the eastern perimeter).  

The Quartermaster and Service teams arrived at Great Ashfield close behind the administrative staff.  They had barely become operational before the first 21 B-17Fs with their aircrews arrived in late June 1943; days earlier, Major Vandevanter was promoted to Colonel Vandevanter. 

The airplanes and their crews arrived from bases across the US, but they were converged to follow a northern track that ran from Grenier Field (New Hampshire) to Great Ashfield via Goose Bay (Labrador), Meeks Field (Iceland), and the RAF station at Nutts Corner (Northern Ireland).  This was the typical route, although the landing fields in use along the way varied due to time constraints, weather, and so forth. 

Additional planes and their crews arrived in a trickling stream over the ensuing weeks, while additional support staff and ground crews arrived by ship.  The first combat mission was flown on 17 July 1943, less than a month after the 385th occupied the airbase. The mission, which targeted port facilities in Amsterdam, involved 28 planes.  

Subsequent missions from Great Ashfield typically involved 20-26 planes selected from among the four squadrons; as the number of available B-17s increased, the number within each squadron increased as well, from 8 to 12-13 planes. At first the frequency of missions was low but the casualty rate high.  Most of the early missions involved fewer than 26 planes, and planes flew missions one after the other.   The bombers from the 385th BG flew 7 missions in July 1943, 7 in August 1943, 8 in September, 8 in October, 9 in November, and 9 in December.  In the course of those 48 missions, 29 planes and crews were lost (and almost all the surviving planes suffered combat-related damage that was often severe).  By January and February 1944 the bombing targets were in Germany, and with long-range fighter escort very limited the rate of attrition even higher - 18 planes and crews were lost in the course of 22 missions. Turn-over was rapid; a bomber typically lasted an average of 13 missions, and that was close to the average combat life expectancy for an individual crewman.  The situation was more complicated for the airmen, however, because (1) a plane might be used by several different air crews over its service life, (2) planes often returned with casualties onboard  and (3) although when a plane was lost, its crew went with it, not all were killed – some died, some were captured as POWs, and some escaped capture , others were recovered - ditching and crash landing in England or liberated Europe  and flew again with different air crews.  (Those landing in enemy territory and escaping capture would not fly again after recovery, for fear their capture at a later date would reveal too much about the methods they used and the aid they received.) 

By the winter of 1944/1945, the 385th was primarily operating B-17Gs, the last major version of the aircraft (although many iterative modifications were made in production right through the end of the war). The first B-17Gs had became operational with the 385th in October 1943, but it would be many months before the B-17Fs were destroyed, replaced, or retired, and typical formations in mid-1944 included both B-17Fs and B-17Gs.  

Preparation for Invasion

Through the spring of 1944 the number of Allied bombers lost to enemy fighters declined as the Luftwaffe’s effectiveness was reduced by the two-front war, the loss of experienced pilots, reductions in German industrial capacity, and ineffective distribution and transport of spare parts.    In addition, the number of long-range Allied fighter planes available for service as bomber escorts was increasing exponentially. The fight was a long ways from being over.  But the critical first step - D-Day and the Allied invasion of the continent - heralded the final phase of the conflict. 

A major factor in preparing for this final phase was the relentless bombing campaign by the American and British air forces. Their targets ran the gamut, from ranging across France to, weather permitting, striking Germany itself.  Waves of bombers, B-17s and B-24s with American crews, flew missions by day accompanied by packs of Allied fighters.  Some of these fighters flew escort duty while others went on patrol, strafing parked airplanes, truck convoys, trains, bridges, and troop concentrations.  

By night the Royal Air Force sent out squadrons of Lancaster bombers with British, Canadian, Australian, and New Zealand crews.   The German war machine was being slowly crushed by the combination of battlefield losses, the destruction of railway and roadway corridors,  and the bombardment of factories and refineries.  In early June 1944, the bombing campaign intensified.  With bad weather over Germany, daylight bombing was impossible, so the 8th Air Force focused its attention on occupied France.  On D-Day alone the 8th Air Force sent 2,599 planes across the English Channel to pound coastal defenses and demolish transportation networks vital to resupplying the German front lines.  B-17 and B-24 aircrews often did missions back-to-back, with short turnaround times. 

Between dawn on 6 June 1944 and dawn on 12 June 1944 the 8th Air Force had armed, fueled, and launched 6,728 bombers to strike targets in France.  In the first few days after the invasion, bombs were dropping directly in front of the Allied forces, in hopes of driving the German defenders farther inland and providing some measure of security to the beachhead.  But the Allied advance was excruciatingly slow.  Although the German commanders were constrained by Hitler’s insistence that he have total control over major military movements,  they were still able to bolster the front lines and replace supplies the bombers and fighters destroyed. (Had Hitler not had such monumental hubris, the invasion might have ended very differently.) The bombing campaign then reached further afield, hitting roadways, bridges, marshaling yards, and airfields all across France.  
